OLD PALACE PLACE, RICHMOND– ARCHAEOLOGICAL EVALUATION REPORT

1
summary

An archaeological evaluation was undertaken by AOC Archaeology Group at Old Palace Place in the London Borough of Richmond. The evaluation involved the opening of three, hand-excavated trenches distributed within two basement rooms of the house. A single feature was revealed, this was interpreted as the base of a truncated pit. The natural deposits across the site varied between sand and gravel.

2
Introduction

2.1
Site Location (Fig 1 & 2)

The site is centred at NGR TQ 17660 74830 and lies within a residential area and consists of a roughly ‘L’ shaped area, with The Green bounding the site to the north, the remaining part of Old Palace Place to the east, Retreat Road to the south and ‘Old Friars’ to the west. Old Palace Place is a Grade II* listed building, dating to the late 16th to 17th century (TQ 1774 NE 20A/48).
2.2
Planning Background

Planning permission has not yet been submitted for the development at Old Palace Place, where it is proposed to substantially lower the basement floor to accommodate an indoor gym. English Heritage have recommended to the London Borough of Richmond that a standard archaeological condition be attached to the planning consent for this development, should it be granted.

An Archaeological Assessment of the site has already been carried out (AOC Archaeology Group, 2002) which concluded that there was a strong archaeological potential due to the proximity to a medieval manor (later Richmond Palace) and a 16th century friary, as well as the age of the house itself. As a result, the evaluation has been targeted at those rooms that have been proposed to incorporate the gym.

2.3
Archaeological Background

This summary is based upon the Cultural Heritage Desk-Based Assessment (AOC, 2002):

· There is limited evidence for prehistoric activity in the vicinity of the site, which is in the form of several stray finds of flint tools and pottery, dating to the Bronze Age and Iron Age. The potential for prehistoric remains increases due to the site being located upon gravel terraces adjacent to alluvium and a water source, conditions that are often associated with prehistoric activity.

· A single coin of 98-117AD was noted as being the only Roman material present within 300m of the house. The Assessment concluded that the chance of finding Roman remains upon the site were low.

· No Saxon remains are known from around the site, although a possible manor house was referred to in the area in AD 950. The report noted a lack of evidence for the Saxon period. 

· A greater level of evidence for the vicinity of the site is known from the medieval period. This mainly focuses around the presence of the manor house of Shene, which was first recorded in the 12th century when it was under the ownership of Henry I. By the 1360’s the manor was converted into a royal palace by Edward III, but soon demolished in 1395 and then rebuilt in 1414 by Henry V. The settlement in the area at this time was centred around the palace. Evidence of this has been discovered in the form of boundary ditches and post holes.

· During the post-medieval period, Richmond Palace continued to grow and be altered in various ways. By c.1500 Henry VII had also established a Franciscan Friary close by, evidence for which was discovered during construction work in an adjacent house. From the 1690’s Richmond began to develop from a small village into a small town, with the original construction of Old Palace Place occurring a few decades before this phase of expansion. In the mid 1700’s it appears that Old Palace Place was an annex of a larger property, Oak House, but since then the layout of the house has only been altered slightly even though it has had multiple owners.

3
STRATEGY

3.1
Aims of the Investigation

The aim of the investigation will be to determine the location, extent, date, character, condition, significance and quality of any surviving archaeological remains liable to be threatened by the proposed conversion.

The particular aims will be to provide information regarding:

· Archaeological features that pre-date the construction of the house

· Features that relate to earlier phases of construction, alteration and repair of the house

· The void at the centre of the basement to ascertain what lies within this area

3.2
Methodology

Three, one metre square trenches were excavated within the basement of the house (Figure 3). The trenches were distributed between the two rooms where the proposed gym will be contained. All trenches were excavated by hand, although Trench 3 required the used of a breaker to remove the current floor surface of tiles and concrete.

A full written record was completed for all the trenches. Context numbers were allocated to each deposit and heights for each context were established relative to the modern floor level. 

All of the work was carried out in line with Archaeological Guidance Paper (AGP): 3, Standards and Practices in Archaeological Fieldwork (English Heritage June 1998). Mark Stevenson of Greater London Archaeological Advisory Service monitored the work.

Provision was made for a post-excavation assessment and proposals for analysis as detailed in Appendix 4 in Management of Archaeological Projects (English Heritage, 1991). Work was carried out to the standard specified by the Institute of Field Archaeologists (1994) and Archaeological Guidance Paper: 5 Archaeological Evaluation Reports (guidelines) (English Heritage London Region, June 1998).

4
RESULTS
4.1
Archaeology Present

Trench 1

Natural sand (1/006) was sealed by a further layer of soft dark reddish brown sand (1/005), at its highest was 6.70m above Ordnance Datum (OD). The darker aspect of (1/005) and its ephemeral boundary with (1/006) below suggests that it was a trampled, slightly mixed, upper level of the natural sand that may have resulted from the construction of the original building. 

Layer (1/005) was cut by pit (1/002) (Figure. 4), which was only partially revealed as it continued into the south and eastern sections of the trench. It measured 0.47m+ north-south and 0.68m+ east-west and had concave sides and a slightly curved base. The top of the pit was at 6.59m OD. It was filled by a soft black silty clay (1/001) with a strong organic element, that contained a range of waste domestic material including frequent fragments of ceramic building material (CBM), animal bone and oyster shell fragments. The most dateable find was a sherd of Tin Glazed pottery with a date range of 1570-1800, a date which is contemporary or slightly earlier than the original date for the construction of the house itself. It is highly probable that the pit was once much larger and acted as a receptacle for domestic household waste, but that it had been truncated from above so that only the base of it survived.

Also directly above dark sand (1/005) was a puzzling block of masonry (1/007) that formed three courses of roughly mortared bricks to a depth of 6.46m OD. It was 0.36m wide and present only in the north section of the trench. It appeared to butt against the eastern internal wall (1/004), which also sat directly upon the dark sand at 6.70m OD. The eastern internal wall (1/004) was faced below floor level with 10-15mm of patchy plaster rendering. This suggests that at one time the eastern wall had been fully plastered and that the plaster was removed at some time after the floor level of the basement had been raised. Overlying the whole trench was the current basement earthen floor level of loose greyish brown sandy silt (1/000) that contained frequent fragments of CBM and plaster.

Trench 2

The lowest natural deposit in Trench 2 was a compact dark reddish brown sandy gravel (2/007) at 6.26m OD. This was sealed by a layer of firm reddish orangey brown sand (2/006), which had subtle horizontal banding including greyish clay lenses and may have been fluvially deposited. The highest level at which this sand was found was at 6.53m OD. This was capped by a deposit of natural, hard, dark reddish brown sand with frequent small rounded stones (2/005). Several construction elements were found to be associated with this. The western wall of the rear basement room (2/004), which is also an exterior wall of the house sat directly above context (2/005) on the western side of the trench at floor level. The natural sand had also been cut by the construction cut (2/003) of the threshold course of red brick (2/002), although the full extent of this cut could not be traced as it was only visible in the south facing section. The threshold course consisted of a single row of bricks in the base of the doorway directly adjacent to the north of the trench. Butting up against the threshold course and occupying the eastern side of the trench was a firm, mixed mid-brown sandy silt deposit (2/001) that contained flecks of plaster, mortar and CBM. As it was only 6.58m OD it is likely to be an earlier beaten earth floor of the basement. The whole trench was sealed by a soft, dark grey sandy silt (2/000), which was the current dusty earthen floor.

As a small extension to the works in Trench 2 a further 0.3m (in plan) of floor surface (2/000) was removed from the northern side of the trench. The purpose of this was to check for alterations in the mortared floor level below that may coincide with a vertical line in the brickwork on the western wall. No variations or alterations were discovered in the mortared floor below (2/000). 

Trench 3

Natural gravel (3/003) (at 6.31m OD) was capped by a band of natural soft, clean, dark brown silty sand (3/002) that was recorded at 6.46m OD. This was sealed by a loose dark brown deposit composed mainly of fragments of CBM and medium gravels in a silty sand matrix (3/001) that was recorded uniformly at 6.54m OD. The CBM assemblage was a mix of brick types, with the oldest appearing contemporary with the original build of the building (the assemblage from this context was not retained). Due to the composition of (3/001), its uniform height and it being directly below the current concrete and tile basement floor (3/000), it is thought to be the levelling make-up layer for the construction of the current basement floor (3/000).

The Void

After discussion with the architect and with English Heritage it was decided that if further investigation of the void was required, then this could be carried out at a later date.

4.2
Finds

The finds recovered were restricted to Trench 1, contexts (1/000) and (1/001). The current floor surface of the rear basement room (1/000) contained elements of building debris that comprised of brick and peg tile fragments, plus a single lump of mortar. These were all assigned to the post-medieval period and not retained. The fill of the pit which was discovered in Trench 1 (1/001) contained a greater diversity of finds. This assemblage contained multiple brick fragments of a similar type to those with which the house was constructed, several oyster shells and a single animal bone fragment (these were not retained). The most diagnostic find was a small sherd of tin glazed pottery (1570-1800), which had a white background with blue brush stroke decoration.
5
CONCLUSIONS

The only feature identified to have been earlier than the construction of the house was the partially exposed base of a rubbish pit in Trench 1. The material contained within the rubbish pit provided a date for its back filling, which would place the active life of the pit close to the time of the construction of the Old Palace Place. This was would suggest that there was a level of post-medieval domestic activity within close proximity. All three trenches indicate that the construction of the house would have horizontally truncated the contemporary ground surface, along with any features cut into it, reducing the ground at basement level down to undisturbed natural sands and gravels. The remaining features in all three trenches were associated with the construction of the house and the subsequent establishment of earthen floors in the rear basement room and a modern tile and concrete floor.

It the recommendation of the author and of AOC Archaeology that a Watching Brief should be carried out during the ground reduction work of the gym construction, although the final decision must rest with the Archaeological Officer, Mark Stevenson.
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